



©2017, GTR Photographs: ©Ioev O'Loughlin

Contents

- 2 ACKNOWLEDGMENTS
- 3 ACRONYMS
- **5 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**
- 9 OVERVIEW OF THE SITUATION OF MATERNAL MORBIDITY AND MORTALITY: LATIN AMERICA AND THE CARIBBEAN
 - 9 Introduction
 - 11 The Context of Maternal Morbidity and Mortality in Latin America and the Caribbean
 - 14 Lessons Learned in the 2004-2014 Decade
 - 22 Conclusions

25 ADDITIONAL REFERENCES

- 25 Annex A: Glossary
- 27 Annex B: The International Context for the Reduction of Maternal Mortality and Morbidity
- 30 Annex C: Regional Trends in Maternal Mortality
- 31 Annex D: The SDGs and the New Global Strategy for Women's, Children's and Adolescents' Health
- 32 BIBLIOGRAPHIC REFERENCES

Acknowledgments

This publication was made possible thanks to the support of all the organizations that comprise the Latin American and Caribbean Regional Task Force for the Reduction of Maternal Mortality: the United Nations Population Fund, the Pan American Health Organization/World Health Organization, the United Nations Children's Fund, Jhpiego and the Maternal and Child Survival Program, UN Women, Management Sciences for Health, the Inter-American Development Bank, the World Bank, the Inter-American Parliamentary Group on Population and Development, the International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies, International Planned Parenthood Federation/ Western Hemisphere Region, the International Confederation of Midwives, the Latin American Federation of Obstetrics and Gynecology Societies, and the Organization of American States. We thank everyone who has offered their invaluable contributions, observations and suggestions for improving and enriching this document. We particularly wish to thank the representatives of the health ministries of Argentina, Belize, Bolivia, Brazil, Colombia, Costa Rica, Ecuador, El Salvador,

Guatemala, Guyana, Honduras, Mexico, Panama, Paraguay, Peru, Dominican Republic, Suriname, Uruguay and Venezuela that participated in the document's review and validation meetings (Dominican Republic 2013 and Panama 2015), as well as the Andean Health Organization—Convention Hipólito Unanue and the Council of Health Ministers of Central America and the Dominican Republic. Our special recognition goes to our colleagues of international cooperation bodies in the different countries and the regional experts that participated in the discussions and review of this consensus document.

This document presents an interagency evidence-based framework for addressing the grave problem of maternal morbidity and mortality in Latin America and the Caribbean. The principles and policies of each agency are governed by the relevant decisions of its governing body. Each agency implements the interventions described in this document in accordance with its principles and policies and within the scope of its mandate.

Acronyms

AECID	Spanish Agency for International Cooperation for Development	MMEIG	UN Maternal Mortality Estimation Inter-Agency Group	
CARICOM	Caribbean Community	MMR	maternal mortality ratio	
CLAP/SMR	The Latin-American Center for	MSH	Management Sciences for Health	
	Perinatology, Woman and Reproductive Health	OHCHR	Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights	
COMISCA	Commission of Health Ministries of Central America and the Dominican	РАНО	Pan American Health Organization	
	Republic	PLANEA	Andean Plan for the Prevention of	
FCI	Family Care International		Adolescent Pregnancy	
FLASOG	Latin American Federation of Obstetrics and Gynecology Societies	RELACSIS	Latin American and Caribbean Network to Strengthen Health Information Systems	
GDP	Gross Domestic Product	RMC	respectful maternity care	
GTR	Regional Task Force for the Reduction	RMC		
	of Maternal Mortality	SDG	Sustainable Development Goals	
ICPD	International Conference on Population and Development	UNFPA	United Nations Population Fund	
		WHO	World Health Organization	
IEB	International Education Institute of Brazil			
MDG	Millennium Development Goals			



Executive Summary

Since 1998, the Regional Task Force for the Reduction of Maternal Mortality (GTR, for its Spanish acronym) has promoted interagency collaboration for the implementation of policies and programs to reduce maternal mortality in Latin America and the Caribbean. The task force is comprised of United Nations technical agencies, bilateral and multilateral cooperation organisms, nongovernmental organizations, and professional associations. The GTR promotes a joint and common vision to combat maternal deaths by optimizing technical cooperation within countries and across agencies. In 2003, the GTR spearheaded a broad consultation process that resulted in a policy declaration, the Interagency Strategic Consensus for the Reduction of Maternal Morbidity and Mortality in Latin America and the Caribbean. This document, endorsed by the region's governments, espoused agreed-upon evidence-based priorities for the reduction of maternal morbidity and mortality during the 2004-2014 decade. The Strategic Consensus has served as a frame of reference for the design and implementation of national plans to reduce maternal mortality, through the harmonization of technical strategies within countries and between the different participating agencies.

The current document presents a panorama of the state of maternal health in the region and reaffirms the advances and lessons learned from the previous decade, in an effort to support countries to identify new priorities and challenges for the reduction of maternal mortality in the framework of the 2030 Agenda. This panorama emerges at a critical time. At the regional level, governments made significant commitments to reducing maternal mortality during the First Regional Conference on Population and Development in Montevideo (2013). Governments renewed this commitment in 2015 with the

adoption of the Montevideo Consensus' Operational Guide, which outlines a concrete roadmap for reducing maternal mortality in the region. In addition, the Santo Domingo Consensus, reached during the 2013 Regional Conference on Women, and the Regional Gender Agenda, reached during the XIII Conference on Women in 2016, are technical-political documents that aim to mainstream gender in the implementation of the Sustainable Development Agenda. At the global level, 2015 marked the deadline for attaining the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs). By 2015, no country in the region had achieved the MDG 5A target to reduce the maternal mortality ratio by three quarters between 1990 and 2015.

In Latin America and the Caribbean, thousands of women still lose their lives every year from preventable causes related to pregnancy and childbirth. Many more suffer complications and experience long-term health issues that affect the quality of their lives. Indigenous and Afrodescendant women, as well as women with lower incomes and fewer years of formal education often lack access to family planning services and skilled birth attendance. In many communities, indigenous women are three times more likely to die from causes related to pregnancy and childbirth than are non-indigenous women living in the same communities. These inequities in accessing care, and the resulting loss of life, violate women's right to health, which includes safe maternal care. A mother's death has deep emotional, social and economic repercussions on the surviving family; following the death of their mother, newborns are less likely to survive, other children are less likely to remain in school, and the family is more likely to suffer financial consequences from loss of productivity and income.

The GTR reaffirms the evidence-based strategies for preventing maternal death outlined in the Strategic Consensus, which include the need to strengthen national health systems at every level, ensure adequate financing for public health services, and increase high-quality, accessible and affordable services. The current panorama seeks to highlight the significant challenges in the region and to urge countries to respond to them as follows: reduce inequities by increasing investment in the health of the most vulnerable communities;

guarantee the rights of adolescents and youth to a healthy life; reinforce maternal mortality surveillance and response systems; and focus on public policies with a rights-based and gender perspective. The agencies that make up the GTR support the underlying principles and strategies of rights and accountability, social determinants of health and governance, intercultural care, and intersectoral collaboration.





Overview of the Situation of Maternal Morbidity and Mortality: Latin America and the Caribbean

1. Introduction

The human right to health, articulated in numerous international conventions, protocols, and declarations signed by countries in the LAC region, is reflected in national constitutions, which affirm their obligations to respect, protect, and fulfill this right for their citizens. The right to health includes the right to maternal health. An indicator of women's unequal status in society and weak health care systems, maternal mortality, together with child mortality, is a proxy for social inequality. In 2009, the United Nations Human Rights Council issued a resolution stating that preventable maternal death constitutes a grave human rights violation and is a social, rather than an individual, problem.1 (See Annex A for terminology, as used in this document.)

The Latin America and Caribbean region is among the most unequal regions in the world in terms of income inequality. While countries in the region have experienced significant economic development, the richest 10% of people in the region own 71% of the region's wealth. 2 Such wide income inequality continues to limit access to quality health services for vulnerable or socially marginalized groups, such as indigenous communities and those of African descent, people with fewer years of education, those in the lower income quintiles, and people living in rural areas and in the periphery of large cities. Most countries in the region are classified as middle income, and do not qualify for significant foreign aid because, in theory, they have enough domestic financing to cover their national health

needs. Consequently, governments face the challenge of setting their priorities in health, broadening their commitments, and improving the efficiency of their health services and systems through the adoption of evidence-based practices.

Since 1998, the Regional Task Force for the Reduction of Maternal Mortality (*Grupo de Trabajo Regional para la Reducción de la Mortalidad Materna*, GTR, for its Spanish acronym) has promoted interagency collaboration for the implementation of policies and programs to reduce maternal mortality in Latin America and the Caribbean. The GTR is comprised of United Nations technical agencies, bilateral and multilateral cooperation organisms, non-governmental organizations, and professional associations.

In 2003, the GTR spearheaded a broad consultation process that resulted in a policy declaration, the *Interagency Strategic Consensus for the Reduction of Maternal Morbidity and Mortality in Latin America and the Caribbean.* This document, endorsed by the region's governments, promoted a set of agreed priorities and strategies, based on the best available evidence, for the reduction of maternal morbidity and mortality for the next decade (2004-2014). The Strategic Consensus has served as a frame of reference for the design and implementation of national maternal mortality reduction plans, and the harmonization of technical strategies among different agencies. Between 2004 and 2014, the Strategic Consensus aimed to:

[†] The key elements in the right to health are availability, accessibility, acceptability, and quality of services.

- Foster interagency dialogue and the development of a common strategic framework for the reduction of maternal morbidity and mortality;
- Achieve greater coherence of national policies and interventions based on the best available scientific information;
- Focus on the support and provision of quality services, prioritizing skilled birth attendance and promoting evidence-based interventions;
- Strengthen maternal mortality surveillance and response systems; and
- Encourage intersectoral collaboration and the exchange of lessons learned within and between countries.

The panorama presented in this document reaffirms the advances and lessons learned through program implementation in the previous decade to help countries identify priorities for the reduction of maternal mortality in the framework of the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). In addition, it offers guidelines for governments and different institutional actors to harmonize their efforts to reduce maternal mortality in the period 2018-2025.

The GTR presents this panorama at a critical time in which global development has undergone a paradigm shift. When the global Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) ended in 2015, no country in the region had achieved the MDG 5A target to reduce the maternal mortality ratio by three quarters between 1990 and 2015. The region made progress on some MDG indicators, including family planning and contraception, prenatal care, and skilled birth attendance. However, in 2016, the region as a whole had a maternal mortality ratio (MMR) of 60.8 maternal deaths for every 100,000 live births, which signifies a 56.6% reduction from 1990 levels (140 maternal deaths for every 100,000 live births), well below the target of 75%.

In September 2015, United Nations member states adopted the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), which prioritize the reduction of maternal mortality. The *Global Strategy for Women's*,

Children's and Adolescents' Health (2016-2030) offers a framework to make this priority operational.

At the regional level, the First Regional Conference on Population and Development in Montevideo (2013) resulted in joint commitments to reduce maternal mortality. In 2015, governments renewed their commitments to reduce maternal morbidity and mortality with the adoption of the Operational Guide. In addition, the Santo Domingo Consensus, signed during the 2013 Regional Conference on Women, and the Regional Gender Agenda, approved at the XIII Conference on Women in 2016, are policy documents that aim to mainstream gender in the implementation of the Sustainable Development Agenda (see Annex B on "The international context for the reduction of maternal mortality and morbidity: Conceptual frameworks and global and regional strategies").

The maternal mortality panorama presented herein seeks to: contribute to the achievement of the described global and regional initiatives; highlight new challenges and conceptual developments; and build the scientific evidence base. This panorama highlights the issues of rights and accountability, social determinants of health, governance, intercultural health and the importance of intersectoral collaboration. This document is aligned with the *Strategy for Universal Healthcare Access and Coverage*, the Montevideo Consensus and the *Global Strategy for Women's, Children's and Adolescents' Health*, adopted in September 2015. ^{5,6,7}

Latin America and the Caribbean must overcome several persistent challenges to improve women's sexual and reproductive health and end maternal morbidity and mortality. Such challenges include consistently high maternal mortality ratios and adolescent pregnancy rates; low quality and disrespectful care during pregnancy, childbirth and the postnatal period; and limited access to family planning services and contraception. Within their borders, countries still grapple with extreme inequalities in access to health care among population groups, with marginalized groups facing the most barriers to health care. This document

[†] Each country reports its MMR to PAHO. The United Nations Maternal Mortality Estimation Inter-Agency Group, based on defined international standards to guarantee comparability between countries, estimates the MMR of LAC to be 68 maternal deaths for every 100,000 live births.

encourages concerted action among countries in Latin America and the Caribbean to develop, adapt, and implement the SDGs, and to comply with regional and global commitments to reach universal health coverage and access to reproductive health care.

2. The Context of Maternal Morbidity and Mortality in Latin America and the Caribbean

In 2015, the UN Maternal Mortality Estimation Inter-Agency Group (MMEIG) estimated the absolute number of maternal deaths in LAC at 7,300. Yet, progress towards improving maternal health has been uneven between and within countries. Of the 13 countries in LAC, the Bahamas, Bolivia, the Dominican Republic, Guatemala, Guyana, Haiti, Honduras, Jamaica, Nicaragua, Panama, Paraguay, Suriname and Venezuela have an MMR above the regional average—between 89 and 359 for every 100,000 live births. These countries also have high fertility rates, high poverty levels, and insufficient coverage and quality of care. Although no country achieved by 2015 the desired 75% reduction in this indicator, 12 countries reduced maternal mortality by more than half.8

Most of these maternal deaths are preventable. Access to quality maternal health care would prevent 54% of these deaths and universal access to family planning could prevent an additional 29% of maternal deaths.9 The most frequent causes of maternal mortality in the region are hemorrhage (23.1%), pregnancy-induced hypertension (22.1%), indirect causes (18.5%), other direct causes (14.8%), complications associated with unsafe abortion (9.9%), and sepsis (8.3%). Among the estimated 3.6 million adolescent pregnancies in the region in 2016, 1.4 million (39%) resulted in abortion, most of them clandestine and unsafe. 11 The indirect causes of maternal mortality have increased disproportionately in some countries, partly due to insufficient coverage and quality of prenatal care, and lack of access to modern contraceptives for women who do not wish, or are not able because of health reasons, to have more children. For example, 36% of adolescents in Latin America and the Caribbean have an unmet need for contraception.¹¹

In El Salvador, women in the lowest income quintile have 3.9 times greater unmet need for contraception than those in the highest quintile; similarly, women in the lowest income quintile in Guatemala have 3.8 times greater unmet need for contraception. In Bolivia and Panama the unmet need for contraception is 3.6 times greater in the lowest income quintile. In Costa Rica, El Salvador, Guatemala, Panama, Peru and Suriname, women without a formal education have more than twice the unmet need for contraception than women who have completed at least high school.¹²

In the region, for every woman who dies from complications during pregnancy, childbirth, or the postpartum period, approximately another 20 (around 1.2 million women) every year suffer severe complications with long-term health impacts that may eventually result in death. The number of women with serious morbidity related to pregnancy and childbirth varies according to the health facility, from 3 to 38 cases for every maternal death. In some hospitals, the morbidity rate is almost double the global average of 20 cases of serious morbidity for every maternal death. Although there have been some efforts to document serious maternal morbidity, an essential strategy for preventing maternal deaths, few countries have implemented a standard to regularly record and analyze this indicator. Annex C shows the differences between the number of recorded maternal deaths in 1990 and estimated maternal deaths in 2015.

Inequity in access to high quality, respectful maternal health care within countries remains a challenge with human rights implications. The Latin America and the Caribbean region is one of the most unequal in the world, with 10 of 15

[†] The Latin American Center for Perinatology, Woman and Reproductive Health designed a registration system—based on variables defined by the World Health Organization—that provides healthcare professionals with guidelines for the care of pregnant women, with the aim of anticipating and preventing these cases and documenting them.

countries having the highest levels of income inequality.¹³ Maternal morbidity and mortality are exacerbated by inequity in income (income per capita), low educational attainment, malnutrition, lack of safe drinking water, low or uneven public health spending, geographical area of residence, membership in indigenous or Afro-descendant groups, and disability status, among other factors. Eleven out of 23 countries reported maternal mortality ratios equal to or greater than 125 maternal deaths per 100,000 live births in sub-national districts, and 7 countries reported even greater mortality in ethnic populations.¹⁴ Weak health information systems and lack of disaggregated data complicate efforts to measure and take actions to remedy these inequalities.

Women living in poverty and from indigenous and Afro-descendant communities often experience inadequate and discriminatory care. They also face geographical, economic, cultural and social barriers to accessing quality services, and their social status is associated with higher mortality and morbidity. 15 Women seeking health services often find that health providers do not recognize or respect their culture and do not communicate in their language. After experiencing discriminatory and offensive treatment, women may find health services unacceptable and stop going to the health facility altogether. Countries with larger populations of indigenous peoples or Afrodescendants in Latin America (Bolivia, Brazil, Guatemala, Ecuador, Haiti, Mexico, Peru, and Dominican Republic) have the highest levels of MMR in the region or in the absolute number of deaths, as in the case of Brazil and Mexico. Even within countries, the MMR of indigenous and Afro-descendant women is significantly higher than for the rest of the population. For example, in Bolivia, the 2011 national study of maternal mortality showed that 68% of maternal deaths occurred in indigenous populations, 16 and Guatemala reported an MMR three times higher among indigenous than non-indigenous women.¹⁶

Similarly, studies in Brazil have found that in the state of Parana, women of African descent were three times more likely to die from maternity-related causes than other women.

The majority of countries still have not achieved universal access to essential reproductive health services. The region maintains the highest rate of unwanted pregnancy, 56%, ¹⁷ in the world and still has an unmet need for contraception between 19% for women in the highest income quintile to 31% for women in the lowest income quintile, indicating limited access to and use of contraception. About 32% of pregnancies in the region end in abortion. ¹⁸

As of 2017, the Zika epidemic had affected 48 countries and territories in the Americas through local, mosquito-borne transmission of the virus. In addition, five countries (Argentina, Canada, Chile, United States of America, and Peru) had reported sexually transmitted Zika cases. Between 2015-2017, 26 countries and territories reported 3,125 cases of the congenital syndrome associated with the Zika virus infection; the large majority of these cases were reported in Brazil (2,653).

Zika response has focused on vector control to reduce the spread of disease among the general population and pregnant women, more specifically, to prevent potential harm to fetuses and newborns. However, governments should prioritize access to sexual and reproductive health and family planning services, especially for women who want to postpone pregnancy. Similarly, governments should strengthen efforts to provide comprehensive care, including mental health care, to mothers and caregivers of children with congenital syndrome. The financial repercussions of Zika on mothers and families with children affected by congenital syndrome remain unknown.

The total fertility rate in Latin America and the Caribbean is 2.15 children per woman, a notable decrease from 3.02 during the 1990-1995 period²⁰ and less than the global average of 2.53 children per

[†] Anguilla, Antigua and Barbuda, Argentina, Aruba, Barbados, Belize, Bolivia, Bonaire, Brazil, Colombia, Costa Rica, Cuba, Curacao, Dominica, Dominican Republic, Ecuador, El Salvador, French Guiana, Granada, Guadalupe, Guatemala, Guyana, Haiti, Honduras, Jamaica, Martinique, Mexico, Nicaragua, Panama, Paraguay, Peru, Puerto Rico, Saint Bart's, Saint Martin, Saint Vincent and the Grenadines, Saint Lucia, St Kitts and Nevis, Saint Maarten, Saint Eustatius and Saba, Suriname, Trinidad and Tobago, Turks and Caicos Islands, United States, US Virgin Islands and Venezuela.

woman. Yet, this decrease has not been even across age groups. For example, the adolescent birth rate has remained relatively stable over the last two decades. Almost 2 million children, 13% of births, are born to adolescent mothers.²¹ The adolescent birth rate in Latin America and the Caribbean is 73.2 live births per 1,000 women 15 to 19 years old, much greater than the global average of 48.9 per 1,000 and the average for developing countries of 52.7 per 1,000. The region's adolescent birth rate is almost double the levels for other regions, and is only surpassed by Sub-Saharan Africa, where it reaches 103 live births per 1,000 women ages 15 to 19. High adolescent birth rates are closely related to abuse and sexual violence, and, therefore, constitute a double social debt for adolescents.²¹

Adolescent pregnancies present a risk for the biopsychosocial health of young women and their children, especially for younger teenagers. In fact, pregnancy and childbirth are among the main causes of death for adolescent women ages 15 to 19 years in Latin America and the Caribbean. The risk of maternal mortality for women 15 years and younger can be double or triple than that of women aged 15-to-19, the three main causes are: (1) hypertensive disorders, (2) late maternal deaths due to pregnancy or childbirth complications, and (3) unsafe abortions.

Due to the effects of the demographic dividend, the size of the adolescent population will increase during the coming decades, and the availability of education and sexual and reproductive health services will impact achievement of the development goals.²⁴ In the region, adolescents still face barriers to accessing sexual and reproductive health services, and less than 10% of adolescents regularly use effective contraceptive methods. Although many countries in the region have established policies, guidelines and programs to support the sexual and reproductive health services and rights of adolescents, studies show that these are not generally supported by dedicated budget lines or by evidence-based strategies to improve the provision and universal access of adequate and timely quality services. Also, legal barriers persist in some countries and there is a need to strengthen intersectoral approaches and alliances, and to encourage enabling environments for adolescent sexual and reproductive rights.

The quality of care in reproductive health still requires considerable improvement; in particular, technologies and medical interventions continue to be overused. For example, health facilities have disproportionately increased the use of Cesarean section, which while it is considered a key obstetric intervention that saves lives, it can also unnecessarily put women and their babies at risk. In Latin America, almost four out of ten deliveries end in a Cesarean section (38.9%), well above the level recommended by WHO (between 10% and 15%). 25 In Brazil, for example, 54% of deliveries are through Cesarean section. The proportion of Cesarean section deliveries is increasing even in countries with a historical prevalence of normal deliveries, such as Bolivia, where Cesarean section deliveries rose from 14.6% in 2008 to 19% in 2012, or Peru, where they increased from 15.8% to 25% in the same period. On the other hand, Haiti, the country with the highest maternal mortality in the region, has a Cesarean section delivery rate of 5.5%, below the recommended levels, which indicates the inequity in access to essential obstetric care.

Abortion continues to pose a serious public health problem in the region. Annually it is estimated that 6.5 million abortions are performed in unsafe, highrisk conditions.26 The rate of abortions performed under high-risk conditions is 31 abortions per 1,000 women between 15 and 44 years of age, versus 22 in the rest of the world; and the MMR due to abortions in high-risk situations is three times higher in Latin America and the Caribbean than in developed regions (10 and 3 maternal deaths per 100,000 live births, respectively).²⁷ The safety level of the procedure is directly related to the socioeconomic status of the woman, the capacity of the service provider, and the conditions in which the abortion is performed, thus, access to abortion is also affected by health care inequity. According to an analysis by the Guttmacher Institute, 28 the Caribbean is the region with the highest abortion rate, 6.5 for every 1,000 women between 15 and 44 years of age. Even though the abortion rate has substantially decreased from 46 during 1990-1994 to 27 per 1,000 women during 2000-2014 in developed countries, the reduction in developing countries (39 to 37 per 1,000 women in the same period) has been insignificant.²⁷

3. Lessons Learned in the 2004-2014 Decade

3.1 Policies and Approaches that Contributed to the Reduction of Maternal Morbidity and Mortality

THE RIGHT TO HEALTH

Pregnant women's lack of access to acceptable, affordable, equitable and high-quality health services is a violation of their right to life, health, equity and non-discrimination. Maternal death and disabilities are generally preventable and the direct result of discriminatory laws and practices, the failure to establish and maintain operational health systems and services, and the lack of accountability.

In the past ten years, countries in the LAC region have incorporated rights-based principles and standards in their constitutions and laws; 18 countries refer specifically to the right to health and another five include social protection in health as a basic principle of the healthcare system. Countries that have prioritized maternal mortality have experienced significant and sustained reductions in their corresponding mortality rates. In spite of the requirements established by MDG 5 for maternal health, and the subsequent SDG target 3.1 for maternal mortality reduction, preventing maternal mortality remains a very low priority for many countries in the region.²⁹

SOCIAL DETERMINANTS OF HEALTH

Social determinants of health refer to the different factors that may contribute positively or negatively to the health of individuals and communities. ^{30,31} Social determinants are structural and intermediate; structural determinants refer to individuals' socioeconomic status and the political context. Intermediate determinants include material and psychosocial circumstances, biological factors, and the behavior of individuals, as well as the healthcare system itself.

The unequal distribution of determinants of health among the different social groups creates a hierarchy: the lower the socioeconomic position of an individual, the worse their health tends to be (social gradient of health). † Countries can move towards reducing health inequities by addressing the social determinants of health. This involves a commitment to universal health care access and coverage, the inclusion of a health approach in every policy, and targeting the most disadvantaged populations. In this sense, the countries in the region have been pioneers by approving two fundamental documents: the Strategy for Universal Access to Health and Universal Health Coverage³² and the Plan of Action on Health in all Policies.³³ Addressing persistent inequities requires identifying target populations, tailoring strategies to address their needs, establishing the appropriate service delivery mechanisms and platforms, and allocating the necessary resources.

In Bolivia and Ecuador, for example, the right to health approach includes the concepts of equity, gender, diversity and interculturality, as well as the social determinants of health. The new constitutions of these countries emphasize the interrelation of health and development, recognize cultural pertinence, and guarantee free access to health care services for all at every level. Consistent with its constitution, Ecuador established the National Plan for "Good Living" 2009-2013,* which prioritizes the reduction of maternal mortality.

POLICIES TO ELIMINATE ECONOMIC BARRIERS TO HEALTH CARE ACCESS

Three basic strategies improve access to health services, an essential step in reducing maternal mortality: increased investment in health (as a percentage of GDP); reduced out-of-pocket spending; and the establishment of social protection policies to achieve universal health coverage.³⁴ Costa Rica,

As an intermediate factor, the health care system and the way it is structured can be an important contributor to inequities in health. The reduced access to health services and the limited or reduced quality care plans for individuals of disadvantaged social classes, apart from constituting a determinant, are also violations of their human rights.

[#] Buen vivir (sumaq kawsay in Quechua), or "good living," originates from an indigenous tradition that values cultural sensitivity and living harmoniously in community and nature and resists competition, a distinctive feature of market-driven capitalism. Achieving buen vivir requires balancing social, cultural, environmental and economic issues.



Cuba, Chile, and Uruguay have enacted these types of policies and successfully reduced their maternal and child mortality rates. However, countries with more heterogeneous populations and greater inequities have experienced obstacles in implementing these types of strategies.

Since 2000, countries in the region have experienced notable economic growth and extreme poverty reduction. From 2005 to 2010, total health expenditure as a percentage of GDP increased from 6.8% of GDP in 2005 to 7.2% in 2010. This correlated with the establishment or expansion of programs that aimed to reduce or eliminate economic barriers to health service access for the poorest segment of the population.

According to studies on Brazil, Chile, Colombia, Jamaica, Mexico and Peru, over 90% of people have health insurance. Strategies to increase coverage have included: decentralization of services (Brazil and Peru); free health insurance for low-income families (Bolivia, Mexico, Peru); recognition of universal health care as a constitutional right and expansion of existing programs (Brazil and Chile); and private sector participation (Colombia).³⁶

Researchers must still collect evidence to measure the impact of other social policies, such as conditional cash transfers to families living in poverty, on the demand for maternal health services during the last decade (Bolivia, Ecuador, Mexico, and Peru).

IMPROVING THE AVAILABILITY OF DATA FOR DECISION-MAKING

Strong, sustainable health programs depend on robust data. In recent years, efforts to strengthen national vital statistics systems have led to higher quality, timely maternal mortality data, fewer recorded incidences of "undefined" causes of death, and greater transparency and accessibility of data. Overall, more reliable evidence is available

for analysis and public policy decision-making.* Some countries now offer online birth certificate registration and immediate access to identity documents, facilitating newborns' enrollment in social programs. Yet, the reliability of maternal and neonatal mortality statistics varies among countries, and some have significant underregistration of deaths.³⁷

Several governments in the region have dedicated special efforts and resources to improve information systems and administrative registries. However, gaps in data collection and analysis of the health situation and determinants of vulnerable populations remain, such as indigenous and Afro-descendant peoples, particularly at the sub-national level. Over the last decade, surveys and censuses have incorporated these variables and national information systems have started to include disaggregated data, such as age, sex, ethnicity, place of residence and socio-economic factors. To support these efforts, UN agencies and multilateral institutions have undertaken research on health determinants, conducted surveys, and provided technical assistance on the health determinants of indigenous and Afro-descendant populations in the region, using an equity, human rights and gender lens. This information is critical to better inform public policies and programming, and achieve more equitable access to health care.

Maternal mortality epidemiological surveillance and response is essential to understand why, how and where maternal deaths occur and to prevent them in the future. The region has shown progress in the implementation of these systems. For example, Colombia launched a web based surveillance system that is linked with the registry of vital records.

In spite of advances in maternal death surveillance, countries still need to decentralize evaluation and

[†] Argentina extended its *Plan Nacer* (Newborn Plan) in 2007 to the whole country, and Brazil expanded the Health for Families Program (*Programa Salud de la Familia*) to the country's most remote areas. Other free national insurance programs include: Bolivia's 2002 Universal Maternal-Child Insurance (*Seguro Universal Materno Infantil*); Mexico's Popular Insurance (Seguro Popular); and Peru's 2009 Law on Universal Health Assurance (*Ley Marco de Aseguramiento Universal en Salud*).

[‡] Through the Regional Plan of Action for Strengthening Vital and Health Statistics, PAHO provides technical assistance to countries that are improving their health information systems. PAHO works with countries to improve quality and coverage, cooperation between countries, and collaboration among international agencies and stakeholders that work to improve data collection and analysis. The Latin American and Caribbean Network for the Strengthening of Healthcare Information Systems (RELACSIS) was officially launched in 2010 to support efforts to strengthen health information systems in the PAHO/USAID project, in partnership with MEASURE Evaluation.

analysis of maternal and neonatal morbidity and mortality data to subnational and local contexts to help identify local determinants and propose targeted solutions. To support these efforts, the GTR developed the Guidelines for Maternal Death Surveillance and Response: Region of the Americas, In line with global maternal mortality surveillance guidelines. The regional guidelines are adapted to the current needs and challenges in LAC and—along with case studies for Brazil, Colombia, El Salvador, Jamaica, and Mexico—are being used to strengthen the capacity of countries to monitor and respond to maternal and neonatal deaths, especially in rural and indigenous communities.

POLICIES FOR MATERNAL MORTALITY REDUCTION

Over the last decade, many governments in the region implemented maternal mortality reduction policies. The key elements of these policies are described below:

Quality of Care and Skilled Health Care Personnel

A well-functioning health system requires a robust network of skilled, integrated, and adequately distributed health workers at all levels. Countries must create an enabling environment for health workers to be effective. Health workers need wellequipped facilities, essential medicines, sexual and reproductive health supplies, reference and counter-referral mechanisms, and affordable emergency transportation so that patients can reach essential services. In the region, the number of qualified health workers is insufficient to meet the needs of the population. Health personnel are concentrated in urban areas or migrate to countries with better working conditions. Recruiting and retaining qualified health professionals to serve poor or rural communities with the highest maternal mortality rates remains a challenge. Deploying professional midwives is a cost-effective strategy to address gaps in skilled personnel and ensure improved quality of care. 41 Governments should put in place incentives and improve working

conditions to retain healthcare workers in low-resource settings.

Service Acceptability and Intercultural Approach

An intercultural approach to health care involves respecting the culture and traditions of indigenous and Afro-descendent persons so they feel comfortable accessing care and following health provider recommendations. In 2014, UNFPA, in partnership with Family Care International (FCI) and other actors, supported the development of Intercultural Maternal Health Standards in six countries: Bolivia, Chile, Colombia, Ecuador, Panama and Venezuela. These standards are a tool to promote the adoption of best practices to overcome cultural barriers to care and improve maternal health in indigenous communities.

Traditional midwives still attend many births in rural areas in several countries. It is important to note that Bolivia and Ecuador have implemented strategies to include traditional midwives as part of the health team, and have fostered coordination of traditional midwives and health facilities as part of the health network. Many countries, such as Bolivia and Peru, have responded to cultural barriers to care by adopting childbirth practices, such as vertical delivery, that respect the traditions of indigenous peoples, and building maternity waiting homes near secondary level hospitals.

Adolescent-friendly Health Services

Even though national maternal mortality reduction plans do not specifically refer to the special needs of pregnant adolescents, countries have made significant progress in developing policies and programs to prevent adolescent pregnancy. In 2008, the Ministries of Health of the Andean Region launched the Andean Plan for the Prevention of Adolescent Pregnancy (Plan Andino para la Prevención del Embarazo en Adolescentes, PLANEA), which includes Bolivia, Chile, Colombia, Ecuador, Peru and Venezuela.* Lessons and best practices from the Andean region have informed efforts in

[†] In partnership with the LAC Neonatal Alliance and the University of West Indies, GTR conducted a survey on maternal mortality epidemiological surveillance systems in the region, which has served to make concrete recommendations on how to address gaps and improve maternal and neonatal services.

With funding from the Spanish Agency for International Cooperation and Development (AECID), UNFPA provided technical support to the Ministries of Health of the Andean Region, through ORAS-CONHU, to develop and launch the plan in partnership with ORAS-CONHU, OIJ and FCI.

Central America and the Dominican Republic, where the Commission of Health Ministries of Central America and the Dominican Republic (COMISCA), ratified the Regional Strategic Plan for Adolescent Pregnancy Prevention in 2015.† In addition, both the Caribbean and Southern Cone countries also have adopted and launched strategic frameworks to prevent and reduce unintended adolescent pregnancies.

These regional policies and plans have served to advance implementation of evidence-based policies in sexual and reproductive health and rights, including access to quality adolescent-friendly services or adolescent spaces, access to counselling and contraceptives, HIV prevention, comprehensive sexuality education, youth participation, prevention of sexual violence, particularly in girls below 15 years old, using a multisectoral and rights approach.

Universal and timely access to contraception is particularly difficult for adolescents. Low adolescent contraceptive use is evidenced by the high rate of adolescent fertility (75.5 live births for every 1,000 women, 15 to 19 years of age), surpassed only by Sub Saharan Africa (117.8 per 1,000). Over the last decade, more countries in the region have developed policies, programs and standards that target the specific sexual and reproductive health needs of adolescent girls and boys. In support of these efforts, in 2014, UNFPA, PAHO and FCI, with regional experts and national adolescent program directors from 21 LAC countries, developed standards for implementing and monitoring adolescent sexual and reproductive health services.* English speaking Caribbean countries replicated this strategy at local health facilities in 2015 and 2016. In October 2015, the Chilean and Colombian Ministries of Health conducted surveys to assess the quality and measure the effective coverage of adolescentfriendly services, based on these standards.

Monitoring and Accountability Systems

Numerous initiatives provide examples of promising practices for monitoring maternal health programs

in the region. In Ecuador, following ministerial guidelines, service facilities monitor a set of indicators related to maternal health services and report to the Minister of Health on the status of these indicators on a monthly basis. Costa Rica established national and local maternal mortality committees to discuss causes of maternal deaths and strategies to prevent them. Argentina gathers data on maternal health service indicators through the on-line Perinatal Information System or SIP-Management. In Brazil, Red Cigüeña's (Stork Network) responds to phone calls from patients regarding their experiences in health facilities; the program uses these citizen reports to monitor quality of services.§

Community participation helps to improve documentation of maternal and neonatal mortality, especially in regions outside urban centers, and to identify possible factors associated with these occurrences. 42 Sexual and reproductive health and maternal mortality observatories in Argentina, Chile, Dominican Republic, Guatemala, Mexico, and Uruguay provide spaces for interaction between civil society and government. These observatories help to position women's health in national agendas and consolidate civil society demands for stronger political and financial commitment to sexual and reproductive health. Examples such as budget analysis of maternal programs by the Mexican Maternal Mortality Observatory, and local user committees in Ayacucho, Peru, demonstrate the capacity of citizens to engage in accountability for maternal and newborn health and rights, and their power to influence improvements in service supply and demand.

In line with the Global Strategy for Women's, Children's and Adolescents' Health, Bolivia, Brazil, Guatemala, Haiti, Mexico and Peru developed and implemented roadmaps to strengthen multi sector accountability processes for maternal and child mortality prevention programs.

[†] With support from UNFPA, CLAP-SMR/PAHO-OMS, UNICEF and the World Bank.

[‡] It is an adaptation of the WHO Global Standards: Global Standards for quality health care services for adolescents, 2015. Available at: http://www.who.int/maternal_child_adolescent/documents/global-standards-adolescent-care/en/

[§] IEB reports, available at: http://www.ieb.usp.br/

Figure 1: Essential Health Care Interventions by Critical Life Stage

Proposed by the Global Strategy for Women's, Children's and Adolescents' Health, 2015

	HOSPITALS	PRIMARY AND SECONDARY CARE	COMMUNITY-BASED CARE		
Adolescents and Women	Sexual and reproductive health, including comprehensive package of family planning	Sexual and reproductive health, including the comprehensive provision of family planning	Contraceptive services Pre-conception care: nutrition, vaccinations, prevention of use of tobacco, drugs, alcohol, gender-based violence and harmful practices		
	methods	methods			
	Hospital care for adolescent diseases and injuries	Healthy adolescent development			
	Sexual and reproductive health services	Prevention of high-risk behaviors, diseases and	Promotion of healthy behaviors in adolescence		
		accidents Annual check-ups and access	Social protection mechanisms for adolescents of both genders		
		to routine care	Comprehensive sexuality education		
Pregnancy	Comprehensive care for the	Prenatal care to prevent	Counseling and childbirth		
	prevention and management of complications during pregnancy	and manage complications Care for spontaneous or incomplete abortions	preparation, nutritional supplements, education about spacing between children, famil planning/contraception within prenatal care		
Labor and Delivery	Skilled birth attendance	Skilled birth attendance	Promotion of facility deliveries,		
	Comprehensive care for mothers and newborns experiencing complications	Basic care for mothers and newborn babies with complications	maternity waiting homes in remo areas, referral and support, including communications and transport		
Puerperium	Essential newborn care	Essential care for newborns	Essential care for newborns		
	Care for underweight or sick newborns	Care for underweight or sick newborns	Postpartum care services		
	Care for mothers who suffered complications	Postpartum care for mothers	Family planning and reproductiv health as part of postpartum car		
			Postnatal care home visits for mothers and newborns		
Child	Hospital care for boys and girls with serious diseases	Prevention and management of infant diseases	Promotion of optimal practices for childcare in home settings		
	Intersectoral interventions: improvement in life and labor conditions, including dwellings, drinking water and sanitation, education, opportunities for women and girls, nutrition, secure and healthy work environment for men and women (including pregnant women), human rights protection, humanitarian interventions				

3.2 Provisions of and Demand for Reproductive, Maternal and Neonatal Health Services

THE LIFE COURSE APPROACH, INTEGRATION AND PRIMARY HEALTHCARE

The life course approach examines how past events and social conditions at different points in the life cycle impact the health and risk for disease of an individual, a population, or future generations. Factors that influence a person or population's health trajectory include socioeconomic status, nutrition, health behaviors, exposure to toxins or environmental devastation, and stress. The life course approach to maternal health integrates effective health interventions and services for women, men, girls and boys, from pre-conception through pregnancy and childbirth, to the immediate postnatal and infancy periods, and continuing later with adolescent health care. 43 Newborn care is critical, considering that in Latin America and the Caribbean, 60% of deaths before the age of 5 occur during the first year of life, and 50% of those during the first 28 days. Figure 1 describes this life course approach, which is included in the most recent Global Strategy for Women's, Children's and Adolescents' Health.

Experience and evidence from the past decade have confirmed that effective interventions that save women's and newborns' lives already exist. Greater efforts are needed to integrate these interventions within health services throughout the continuum of care, including pre-conception care, prenatal care, and delivery and postpartum care, for both the mother and the newborn.

The region has made advances in integrating women's primary health care with family planning services, from prenatal care to prevention of vertical HIV transmission and care for HIV-positive pregnant women and their newborn babies. Now, further efforts must focus on systematizing and institutionalizing integration in a universal way,

so that integration becomes standard practice, ensuring that all services have access to the planning, service delivery and monitoring and evaluation tools that are already available and in use.

ACCESS, USE AND QUALITY OF CONTRACEPTIVE SERVICES

In Latin America and the Caribbean, 65% of reproductive-aged women would like to prevent pregnancy. However, 24 million women have an unmet need for contraception, and 18 million do not utilize any method. According to current estimates, if all sexually active adolescents and adult women had access to modern contraceptives, there would be 400,000 fewer unintended pregnancies and 600,000 fewer induced (unsafe) abortions. Many maternal deaths could be prevented as a result. Therefore, access to counselling and ensuring a variety of contraceptive methods including the long-term reversible contraceptives (LARCs) are central to ensuring the right to decide freely the number, spacing and timing of their children, and therefore contribute to the reduction of maternal morbidity and mortality and to ensure the full exercise of sexual and reproductive rights and gender equality.

Currently, contraceptive use[†] within countries varies greatly, so the region needs to reduce these inequities and ensure all women and their partners have access to quality sexual and reproductive health information and services,* that are timely and culturally pertinent, so that they can make informed decisions about if and when to have children. UNFPA's Global Programme to Enhance Reproductive Health Commodity Security represents a successful example of contraceptive access; the initiative provides a structure of rational, planned and sustainable approaches to promote the use of modern and effective contraceptive methods. Also, key partners and stakeholders have established the ForoLAC, which implements advocacy and governmental and civil society engagement strategies to improve access to reproductive health supplies.

[†] In Brazil, Mexico and the Dominican Republic, modern and more effective methods such as hormonal and surgical contraception are prevalent while a significant proportion of contraceptive users in Andean countries still rely on natural methods.

[‡] The elements of quality of care are availability, affordability, and acceptability. See also the glossary at the end of this document.

The Latin American and Caribbean Forum for Reproductive Health Commodity Security (ForoLAC) provides an opportunity for partners in the region to share experiences and strategies to improve access to reproductive health commodities. For more information, consult: http://www.rhsupplies.org/working-groups/forolac.html

ACCESS, USE AND QUALITY OF PRENATAL CARE

Among women aged 15-49 years old who gave birth in 2014 in Latin America and the Caribbean, 97% received prenatal care from a qualified health worker (doctors, nurses, and childbirth attendants) at least once during their pregnancy.³ However, a single prenatal visit is insufficient. WHO recommends at least four prenatal visits to improve maternal and neonatal health outcomes. Given the slow progress in maternal mortality reduction and the increase in maternal deaths from indirect causes, it is critical to consider quality of care and to implement strategies to expand coverage. Prenatal care is the entry point to ensure skilled birth attendance and access to emergency maternal and neonatal obstetric care. The region has improved practices related to prenatal care. Some of the strategies that governments and communities have put in place include evidencebased protocols for women and providers to agree on birthing plans; health networks maintaining a list of pregnant women and organizing outreach activities to reach these women; and continuous training of personnel in respectful maternity care. Examples includes Argentina's "Te escucho" program to build health team capacity on respectful care and gender equality, and the institutionalization of a birthing plan in Ucayali, Peru using an intercultural approach, which makes provisions for linking prenatal care with delivery at facilities by skilled birth attendants. These efforts have resulted in an increase in the number of prenatal visits. However, quality of care remains a challenge. Health services should include continuous inservice training opportunities for their personnel to ensure compliance with the most up-to-date evidence-based guidelines and protocols to care for the specific needs of each patient.

ACCESS, USE AND QUALITY OF SKILLED BIRTH ATTENDANCE

The observed discrepancies between the high coverage rates[†] for skilled birth attendance and high maternal mortality in several countries indicate a problem with the quality of services

provided. Although there is clear scientific evidence on effective interventions to improve maternal health and reduce maternal morbidity and mortality, a gap between evidence and clinical practice continues to exist. In fact, several studies show that providers are not putting effective interventions in practice, resulting in poor quality care.⁴⁴

According to an analysis of the model of the *three delays* that lead to a maternal death, most maternal deaths are due to the *third delay*, which is a health system-related delay. Deaths are a result of poor quality care or lack of timely emergency obstetric care. In Mexico and the Dominican Republic, for example, these health system failures result in 75% to 80% of maternal deaths.

Ecuador, El Salvador, Guatemala, Honduras, Mexico (Chiapas), and Nicaragua are implementing interventions in low-resource settings to improve the quality of maternal and neonatal care services.* Specifically, these countries are improving the quality of essential obstetric and newborn care in secondary and tertiary-level hospitals. Facilities have established systems to monitor services, equipment and supplies on a routine basis and to implement quality improvement plans, for example, related to the active management of the third stage of labor and neonatal care (screenings, heat, prophylaxis).

ACCESS, USE AND QUALITY OF CARE DURING AN OBSTETRIC EMERGENCY

Proper and timely management of obstetric emergencies that pose significant threats to women's lives significantly reduces maternal morbidity and mortality. Pregnancy-induced hypertension, postpartum hemorrhage and complications related to unsafe abortion account for more than 60% of maternal deaths in the region. Most deaths related to postpartum hemorrhage occur in the first 24 hours after childbirth. Preventing and treating postpartum hemorrhage would reduce maternal deaths significantly. Women who develop extreme maternal morbidity, require access to specialized care.

[†] In Latin America and the Caribbean, the proportion of births attended by skilled personnel has increased 11% since 1990. In 2014, 92% of deliveries in the region were attended by a skilled birth attendant. Overall, 18 countries have over 95% rate of births attended by skilled personnel; and 10 are between 90% and 95%; Bolivia, Honduras and Nicaragua are between 80% and 90%, and Guatemala and Haiti, below 70%. need to redouble their efforts.

[‡] Iniciativa Salud Mesoamérica (Mesoamerican Health Initiative), Inter-American Development Bank.

Primary health care is the gateway to specialized services with the capacity to respond to complex cases and provide timely and adequate care tailored to each woman's needs. Essential obstetric care, accessible for all women at the primary and secondary levels, facilitates referrals to health facilities that are well-equipped to address high complexity cases, consequently, reducing incidences of maternal mortality. 46 The implementation of functioning health systems—based on the Three Delays and Safe Motherhood models—and coordination among health facilities and communitybased care have enabled diagnosis, timely treatment and appropriate referrals of women and newborns experiencing complications most commonly linked with maternal and neonatal death. In addition, adoption of protocols that include active monitoring of severe maternal morbidity has facilitated the early detection of potentially fatal complications, and improved effective management of these complications.[†]

The Latin American Center for Perinatology (CLAP) and the Latin American Federation of Societies of Obstetrics and Gynecology (FLASOG), UNFPA and the University of Antioquia's Centro NACER developed a training module for the management of obstetric emergencies, particularly prevention and treatment of obstetric hemorrhage. As part of this strategy, PAHO incorporated high and low fidelity simulators to the Zero Maternal Deaths by Hemorrhage project and conducted trainings in Bolivia, Guatemala, Haiti, Honduras, Peru and the Dominican Republic, which improved provider response to postpartum hemorrhage.⁴⁷ UNFPA has supported the establishment of training centers in Cuba and Panama. Several online training courses in this issue has also been developed and implemented in several countries.

A biomedical model, centered on diagnosing and treating individual illness in hospitals, still dominates health care practice in the region, overshadowing the role of primary health care and public health that focus on prevention and healthy behaviors. The development of integrated health care delivery networks is still in its early stages. It is necessary to strengthen primary health care—in partnership with civil society—to respond to citizens' rights, needs, and demands.

RESPECTFUL MATERNITY CARE (RMC)

Growing evidence confirms that disrespectful and abusive treatment can lead to harmful repercussions for maternal and neonatal health and affect women's decision to seek skilled care in the future. Obstetric violence⁴⁸ has serious consequences for the mother, her children and families, and even for the service providers themselves. In September 2014, WHO issued a statement on "The prevention and elimination of disrespect and abuse during facility-based childbirth." Other organizations have proposed initiatives and developed instruments to explicitly address this obstacle to accessing quality maternal health care and realizing basic human rights. ⁴⁹

An RMC survey conducted by Jhpiego through USAID's Maternal and Child Integrated Program, and which included nine countries from Latin America and the Caribbean,* found promising experiences. One such example is Brazil's National Program for the Humanization of Birth, a campaign to promote RMC that gives awards to recognize efforts to improve the humanization and quality of maternity care.

[†] Uruguay and Guatemala (in the Rubel Tzul community) implemented pilot programs that included active monitoring of maternal morbidity of women attended by traditional birth attendants, to ensure timely referral to emergency obstetric care, with promising results.

^{‡ &}lt;a href="https://www.k4health.org/toolkits/rmc/survey-rmc-country-experiences">https://www.k4health.org/toolkits/rmc/survey-rmc-country-experiences

4. Conclusions

Over the past two decades, the Latin America and the Caribbean region has made significant progress in reducing maternal morbidity and mortality. Most governments in the region now recognize that maternal mortality constitutes a grave public health problem and are adopting and implementing evidence-based policies, programs and interventions to reduce maternal death and disability. High-level political support for health system strengthening is required if we are to achieve universal health coverage. So are evidence-based policies, increased financial investments in cost effective reproductive, maternal and child health interventions, qualified health care providers, including midwives, and stronger maternal mortality surveillance and response systems.

At the same time, the region has also experienced a growth in social movements advocating for using an intercultural approach to transform birth into a respectful and humane experience, ensuring transparency and accountability. In recent years, many countries have committed to decreasing unintended adolescent pregnancies and their drivers, such as early marriage, sexual violence and limited access to integrated sexual and reproductive health services including effective contraceptives and education.

However, disparities in health outcomes persist. Vulnerable and excluded populations often still lack access to quality reproductive, maternal and

neonatal healthcare. In some countries, restrictive legislation prevents women and adolescents from accessing comprehensive sexual and reproductive health services and fully exercise their reproductive rights. Health systems are not sufficiently equipped to respond to the main direct causes of maternal deaths including unsafe abortion. An increasing number of maternal deaths are due to pre-existing conditions aggravated by pregnancy. The overuse of medical interventions remains a challenge in the region: elevated rates of C-sections can be a risk factor for maternal death. Finally, the region has not addressed the issue of equal access to care; while free or low cost public services exist in many countries, many women still do not have access to quality, life-saving care. In order to make universal health care a reality, governments must increase human resources for health and adequate deployment of skilled providers, particularly professional midwives, strengthen health systems, foster the implementation of human rights-based policies, and improve quality of care.

The GTR reaffirms its commitment to support countries and stakeholders to achieve their sustainable development goals, particularly to make universal access and coverage of quality sexual and reproductive health and rights a reality in Latin America and the Caribbean.

No one will be left behind.



Additional References

Annex A: Glossary

ACCEPTABILITY

All health facilities and the goods and services they provide must be respectful of medical ethics and be culturally appropriate. This means they must also be sensitive to gender issues and to needs related to the life cycle.

ACCESSIBILITY

Health facilities and the goods and services they provide should be accessible to the entire population. Accessibility is measured by four dimensions: non discrimination, physical accessibility, economic accessibility (affordability) and access to relevant information.

ADOLESCENTS

Following the United Nations definition, in this document, adolescents are understood to be between 10 and 19 years of age and youths are those between 15 and 24 years.

AVAILABILITY

There must be a sufficient number of facilities, goods and services as well as health programs.

DIVERSITY APPROACH

Recognizes the different capacities, characteristics and needs possessed by people and the many human groups that make up a society and a certain culture. The absence of exclusion and discrimination based on any kind of difference between individuals or groups, by age, gender, ethnicity, disability or other status, should be guaranteed in health care. Furthermore, services should be adapted according to the functional capabilities of individuals. In the field of sexual and reproductive health, for example,

it is essential that health personnel recognize that all human beings are sexual beings and that there are different sexual orientations and identities. The implementation of this approach implies respect, tolerance and non violence against people due to their differences.

EQUITY APPROACH

Allows for the compensation and correction of certain inequities in access to resources and opportunities, promoting social inclusion and integration, and the human development of those who have historically been discriminated against and excluded from social and economic development. The application of this approach entails applying measures that favor the people who are in the most vulnerable condition and require special conditions to reduce differentiated health risks.

GENDER APPROACH

Promotes the questioning and breaking down of those social and cultural patterns that support inequities based on gender differences and create spaces that facilitate the construction of identities for both men and women whose essential meaning is self realization and the overcoming of inequities. To achieve this, health care personnel should avoid reproducing gender stereotypes, relationships of subordination and discrimination between men and women and, instead, commit to strengthening egalitarian relationships that help overcome gender gaps.

HUMAN RIGHTS APPROACH

This approach is based on recognizing all individuals as right holders. This means that the person is seen as an active subject and not as a mere receiver of actions. It thus seeks to break with the charitable, welfare schemes and arbitrary or discretionary interventions. Discriminatory facts, whether by distinction, exclusion or restriction, the object or outcome of which is a violation of human rights must be eliminated. In this context, health services must involve respect for the dignity of individuals and their right to autonomy and to participation, among others.

INTERCULTURALITY

In health is understood as the ability to act in a balanced way between different knowledge, beliefs and cultural practices with regard to health and sickness, life and death, and to biological, social and relational aspects. The latter are understood as not only the visible environments, but also the spiritual, cosmic dimension of health. Dialog and recognition of this diversity are a fundamental human right. The crux of this concept consists of guaranteeing that differences do not become discrimination but rather are recognized and exploited as sources of knowledge, thought and life experiences in society.

MATERNAL MORTALITY

Refers to the death of a woman while pregnant or within 42 days of the termination of pregnancy, irrespective of the duration and site of the pregnancy, from any cause related to the pregnancy or aggravated by it or its care but not from accidental or incidental causes. Maternal mortality ratio (MMR) refers to the number of maternal deaths per 100,000 live births.

POTENTIALLY FATAL COMPLICATIONS

Problems involving a wide variety of clinical situations that may endanger the lives of women during pregnancy, childbirth or the postpartum period. A WHO summary guide mentions five complications of this nature: severe postpartum hemorrhage, severe preeclampsia, eclampsia, sepsis or severe systemic infection, and uterine rupture.

RESPECTFUL MATERNITY CARE

A human right of every childbearing woman in every health system. The treatment women receive can empower and comfort them or result in injury or emotional trauma. In many contexts, women do not use the services for fear of maltreatment.

SEVERE MATERNAL MORBIDITY

A severe complication that occurs during pregnancy, childbirth and/or the puerperium that threatens the life of the woman or requires immediate attention in order to avoid death.† It is synonymous with extreme maternal morbidity, extremely serious maternal morbidity or near miss. The study and analysis of this is complementary to the investigation of maternal deaths to improve the quality of maternal health services.

SOCIAL DETERMINANTS OF HEALTH

The specific characteristics and the ways in which an individual's social conditions affect their health. Social determinants are both socio individual, such as the individual's health practices, capacity and skills for adaptation, as well as those derived from the social structure, including poverty, education, work, gender and socioeconomic status. The former are known as proximal determinants and the latter as structural or distal determinants. Social determinants of health explain most health inequities the unfair and preventable differences within a country or between countries with regard to the health situation.

WOMEN OF REPRODUCTIVE AGE

Refers to all women aged 15 to 49 years old. In some census and survey estimates, the upper limit is taken as 44 years. Recently, it has been recommended that the total fertility ratio include the age ranges of 15 to 44 and 15 to 49. It is common for births to girls under 15 years of age to be added to the group of 15 to 19 years; and those of women over 49 years, to births in the 45 to 49 year old group. 50

[†] Maternal Mortality Committee FLASOG. Santa Cruz de la Sierra, Bolivia, April 2007.

Annex B: The International Context for the Reduction of Maternal Mortality and Morbidity

Conceptual Frameworks and Global and Regional Strategies

Reducing maternal mortality has been a priority on the international development agenda for the past fifteen years. Based on the Millennium Development Goals agreed on by the international community, maternal health is conceived not only as a human right, but also as a synonym for development. The international framework provides not only ethical and political support to reducing maternal mortality but also strengthens the commitment and provides opportunities to develop joint work strategies globally and in the region. This aims to guarantee compliance with the agreements and achievement of the goals on maternal health and sexual and reproductive health in the different national agendas.[†]

Over the last fifteen years, the international community has incorporated new approaches to improve maternal health including human rights, equity and accountability, life course approaches and the social determinants of health, with a gender and intercultural perspective. This new approach allows for the individual with their conditions and their needs to be placed at the center of health policies and programs.

The Global Strategy for Women's and Children's Health launched in 2010* highlights the importance of using effective measures to strengthen the continuum of care, reviews the progress made and promotes new efforts to facilitate advances towards achieving the goals set in MDGs 4 and 5. Providing continuity to this initiative, and seeking to achieve maximum performance of the existing resources, whether financial, human, material or informational, in 2011, the WHO established a Commission on Information and Accountability on women's, girls' and boys' health

to accelerate the advances related to the "Every Woman, Every Child" global initiative. ⁵¹ In 2015 a new version of the Strategy was launched, as discussed below. ⁵

To contribute to the improvement of the work to take place in the region between 2011 and 2015, PAHO developed the Regional Plan of Action to Accelerate the Reduction of Maternal Mortality and Morbidity, with four strategic areas: (a) Prevention of unwanted pregnancies and resulting complications; (b) Universal access to high quality maternity services within the coordinated health care system; (c) Skilled human resources; and (d) Strategic information for action and accountability.⁵

The Human Rights Council provided fundamental support for the work on the prevention of maternal mortality with the publication of a report with technical guidelines about the human rights and accountability approach to motherhood and maternal morbidity.⁵² The report includes the concepts of availability, accessibility, acceptability, quality, sustainability and participation, which are indispensable for the comprehensive human rights approach. It also outlines the enormous potential of this approach to improve health equity for women and provides a series of recommendations for work at all levels. It argues that sexual and reproductive health, including safe motherhood, require recognition of the fact that maternal mortality and morbidity are a human rights issue and, therefore, the deaths and serious injuries suffered by women during pregnancy and childbirth should be recognized as being preventable.

During the *Women Deliver* Conference in Bangkok in 2013, a group of organizations and key stakeholders conducted a technical consultation on goals and strategies to End Preventable Maternal Mortality (EPMM). This movement underlines the importance of maternal survival being included in

[†] In particular, the ICPD regional agenda after 2014—the Montevideo Consensus on Population and Development (2013), and the Sustainable Development Goals.

For additional information see: http://www.who.int/pmnch/activities/jointactionplan/201009_gswch_sp.pdf

[§] For additional information refer to: http://www.everywomaneverychild.org/global-strategy-2argentina

the context of the right to health care and being the highest sanitary priority throughout the life course. EPMM strategy goals are based on human rights and the imperative to eliminate inequities that lead to disparities in access to and quality of services. At a global level, the EPMM strategy established a goal of an average of 70 per 100,000 live births for the maternal death rate by 2030. For the same year, no country should have a maternal mortality rate greater than 140 per 100,000, which is twice the world average. For countries with a maternal mortality rate less than 420 per 100,000 live births, in 2010, they (most countries) should reduce this by at least two thirds by 2030.⁵³

In the region, the first Regional Conference on Population and Development held in Montevideo in 2013 stands out. It was during this conference that joint commitments to reduce maternal mortality were negotiated. The following agreements reached in the Montevideo Consensus on Population and Development are particularly important: adopting a regional agenda on population and development for Latin America and the Caribbean, based on the Cairo Program of Action and its monitoring and the key actions for its further implementation beyond 2014; guaranteeing the effective participation of civil society and social movements in the implementation, monitoring and evaluation of the Cairo Program of Action after 2014, incorporating the measures agreed to in the Consensus; raising a proposal at the next meeting of the Statistical Conference of the Americas for the harmonization of health indicators for the region, in particular sexual and reproductive health indicators, to facilitate the comparison and analysis of regional trends. In 2015, the commitment of the countries that participated in this meeting was renewed, with the adoption of the operational guide, which follows on from the regional concepts and commitments.

The Santo Domingo Consensus of the Regional Conference on Women reached in 2013 includes the countries' commitment in relation to maternal health and reducing maternal mortality. Since 1977, the Regional Conferences on Women in

Latin America and the Caribbean have also been essential inter governmental forums for advancing and consolidating gender equality and the human rights of women in the region. In 2016, the 40th anniversary of the regional conferences on women coincides with the newly released 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development and the Sustainable Development Goals (SDG). At the XIII conference held in October 2016 in Montevideo, Uruguay, its operational strategy was expected to be designed in tune with the 2030 Agenda and the consensuses prior to this Conference.

The initiative, A Renewed Promise in the Americas: To Reduce Inequities in Reproductive, Maternal and Child Health (2013) is a regional movement centered on addressing the inequities affecting the most disadvantaged populations, with improved monitoring and analysis of information, and greater collaboration of the public and private sectors. To date, 32 governments of the Americas have signed this commitment, which aims to eliminate preventable child deaths and ensure a healthy start to the lives of boys and girls.

In partnership with UNFPA and WHO, the International Confederation of Midwives prepared a publication, The State of the World's Midwifery 2014, 40 which analyzes the worldwide practice of this profession. The publication is accompanied by an advocacy strategy and a toolbox to strengthen the role of professional midwives in health services and highlights the capacity of midwives to reduce maternal and infant mortality.*

In recent years, the WHO has been working to further the promotion of respectful maternity care. To this end, four investigations were carried out. Likewise, the declaration, The Prevention and Elimination of Disrespect and Abuse during Facility based Childbirth, was launched at the United Nations General Assembly in 2014. This was translated into 12 languages and backed by more than 80 organizations, including the International Federation of Gynecologists and Obstetricians, the International Confederation of Midwives and the United States Agency for International

^{† &}lt;a href="https://www.cepal.org/en/publications/21860-montevideo-consensus-population-and-development">https://www.cepal.org/en/publications/21860-montevideo-consensus-population-and-development

^{‡ &}lt;a href="http://www.familycareintl.org/UserFiles/File/SoMWy_Toolkit_Spanish_Dec3_2014.pdf">http://www.familycareintl.org/UserFiles/File/SoMWy_Toolkit_Spanish_Dec3_2014.pdf

Development. The document states that "Every woman has the right to the highest attainable standard of health, which includes the right to dignified, respectful health care throughout pregnancy and childbirth, as well as the right to be free from violence and discrimination".⁵²

In 2015, United Nations member states agreed on the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, in which goal number 3 is "Ensure healthy lives and promote well being for all at all ages". This goal includes the need to achieve universal health coverage, access to sexual and reproductive health services, as well as quality and affordable vaccines and medicines. Reducing maternal and child mortality remains a central challenge in the new agenda.

The updated Global Strategy for Women's, Children's and Adolescents' Health, launched in September 2015, supports the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) related to the health of women, boys, girls

and adolescents as part of a more integrated development framework in which all countries will be supported to achieve and maintain their health goals. It also includes a more comprehensive approach that transcends reductions in mortality with a vision of a healthy life for all throughout the life cycle. This new version has been discussed in broad consultation since the beginning of 2015, leading to its approval in September 2015. (Annex D).

As for equal access for vulnerable groups and those in situations of exclusion, the United Nations International Expert Group on Intercultural Health promotes equal access to health, and the Standards are an important contribution to this goal in the region. Likewise, the Commission on Intercultural Health of ORAS-CONHU, supports the Intercultural Maternal Health Standards. This work is part of the agreements reached at the UN Permanent Forum on Indigenous Issues.

Annex C: Regional Trends in Maternal Mortality

Figure 2: Number of Maternal Deaths and Maternal Mortality Ratio (per 100,000) Registered and Estimated Live Births, 1990 and 2015[†]

	Maternal Mortality Ratio, 1990 (per 100,000 live births)	Total Number of Deaths, 1990	Estimated Maternal Mortality Ratio, 2015 (per 100,000 live births)	Estimated Total Number of Deaths, 2015
LATIN AMERICA AND THE CARIBBEAN	135	16,000	67	73,000
LATIN AMERICA	126	14,000	60	66,000
CARIBBEAN	276	2,300	175	1,300

[†] Source: Trends in maternal mortality: 1990 to 2015: estimates by WHO, UNICEF, UNFPA, World Bank Group and the United Nations Population Division. http://www.who.int/reproductivehealth/publications/monitoring/maternal-mortality-2015/en/

Annex D: The SDGs and the New Global Strategy for Women's, Children's and Adolescents' Health[†]

Following the end of the Millennium Development Goals (MDG) era in 2015, governments adopted the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). Unlike the MDGs, these goals are the result of a broad global consultation process that included governments, civil society, technical experts, youth, the private sector and other stakeholders. The 17 interrelated goals, which will guide the development agenda over the next 15 years, cover all areas of human development.*

Accompanying this process, the United Nations Secretary General launched the updated Global Strategy for Women's, Children's and Adolescents' (2016-2030) in September 2015.§ This is a human-centered roadmap to enable the implementation of the SDG agenda, particularly in relation to the three goals related to sexual, reproductive, maternal and neonatal health:

Objective 3: Ensure healthy lives and promote well being for all at all ages.

Objective 5: Achieve gender equality and empower all women and girls.

Objective 10: Reduce inequality within and among countries.

The Strategy is organized around three themes: (a) survive, that is, ending preventable maternal, child and adolescent mortality; (b) thrive, enabling newborns, boys, girls and adolescents to reach their physical, mental and social potential; and (c) transform, with the goal of generating a people centered movement for changes in the health and sustainable development of women, children and adolescents.

The Global Strategy proposes seven transformative actions based on the principles of human rights and equity, which recognize the right of every person around the world to enjoy their human rights and live with dignity, security and without discrimination, oppression and persecution. These seven actions are:

- 1. Realize potential and increase opportunities.
- 2. Obtain and sustain progress through national leaders and their resources.
- 3. Strengthen the resilience and effectiveness of health systems.
- 4. Achieve intersectoral partnerships for health and sustainable development.
- 5. Address inequities and fragilities in all sectors.
- 6. Accelerate progress through innovation and research.
- 7. Increase accountability with national data and initiatives at all levels.

The transformative actions influence the multiple factors affecting the realization of rights, including the social determinants of health, the life cycle approach, and the role of the health-supporting sectors. While reproductive, maternal, newborn, children and adolescent's health are at the center of the Strategy, its scope is much broader and intersectoral.

[†] http://crowd360.org/shaping-the-future-for-healthy-women-and-children/

[‡] Available at: http://www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/sustainable-development-goals/

[§] Available at: http://apps.who.int/gho/data/node.gswcah

Bibliographic References

REFERENCES CITED

- United Nations, Human Rights Council (2012). Technical guidance on the application of a human rights-based approach to the implementation of policies and programmes to reduce preventable maternal morbidity and mortality. Report from the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights. A/HRC/ 21/22. Available at: http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/HRBodies/HRCouncil/RegularSession/Session21/A-HRC-21-22_sp.pdf
- 2 Bárcena A and Byanyima, W. Latin American is the world's most unequal region. Here's how to fix it. Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean (CEPAL). January 2016. Available at: http://www.cepal.org/en/articles/2016-latin-america-worlds-most-unequal-region-heres-how-fix-it
- 3 Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean (CEPAL). Looking ahead after the Millennium Development Goals: Regional monitoring report on the Millennium Development Goals in Latin America and the Caribbean, 2015 (LC/G.2646), Santiago, 2015.
- 4 Pan American Health Organization/World Health Organization, Communicable Diseases and Health Analysis/Health Information and Analysis: Health situation in the Americas: Basic Indicators, 2016. Washington, D.C., USA, 2016. Available at: http://iris.paho.org/xmlui/bitstream/handle/123456789/31288/IndicadoresBasicos2016-spa.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y
- 5 Pan American Health Organization Plan of action to accelerate the reduction of maternal mortality and severe maternal morbidity (CD51/12). 51st Executive Council Meeting/63rd Session of the Regional Committee. September 2011. Available at: http://www.paho.org/hq/index.php?option=com_docman&task=doc_view&gid=14677&Itemid=270

- 6 Pan American Health Organization Strategy for Universal Access to Health and Universal Health Coverage (Estrategia para el Acceso Universal a la Salud y la Cobertura Universal de Salud). 53rd Executive Council Meeting/55th Session of the Regional Committee of the WHO for the Americas. CD53/5, Rev. 2. Available at: http://www.paho.org/hq/index.php?option=com_docman&task=doc_view&gid=27273<emid=270&lang=es
- 7 Pan American Health Organization Progress Report:
 Plan of action to accelerate the reduction of maternal
 mortality and severe maternal morbidity. 154th
 Executive Council Meeting CE154/INF/6. Available at:
 http://www.paho.org/hq/index.php?option=com_co
 ntent&view=article&id=9415%3A2014-154th-sessionexecutive-committee&catid=1258%3Aabout&Itemid=40
 704&lang=es
- 8 World Health Organization. Trends in maternal mortality: 1990 to 2015. Estimates by WHO, UNICEF, UNFPA, The World Bank and the United Nations Population Division. Geneva: WHO, 2014. Available at: http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/194254/1/9789241565141_eng.pdf
- 9 Chou D, Daelmans B, Jolivet R, Kinney M, Say L. Ending preventable maternal and newborn mortality and stillbirths. BMJ 2015; 351:h4255.
- 10 Say L, Chou D, Tuncalp O, Moller A-B, et al. Global causes of maternal death: a WHO systematic analysis. The Lancet; 2016; Vol 2, No. 6, e302-e302. Available at: http://www.thelancet.com/journals/langlo/article/PIIS2214-109X(14)70227-X/abstract
- 11 Guttmacher Institute. Darroch JE, Woog V, Bankole A and Ashford L. Adding it up: costs and benefits of meeting the contraceptive needs of adolescents. May 2016. Available at: https://www.guttmacher.org/report/adding-it-meeting-contraceptive-needs-of-adolescents

- 12 United Nations Children's Fund. Health Equity Report 2016: Analysis of reproductive, maternal, newborn, child and adolescent health inequities in Latin America and the Caribbean to inform policymaking. Summary Report. Available at: https://www.unicef.org/lac/20160906 UNICEF APR HealthEquityReport SUMMARY.pdf
- 13 Programa de las Naciones Unidas para el Desarrollo Informe Regional sobre Desarrollo Humano para América Latina y el Caribe 2010: Actuar sobre el futuro: romper la transmisión intergeneracional de la desigualdad . -1a. ed. - San José, C.R.: Programa de Naciones Unidas para el Desarrollo (PNUD), 2010. Available at: http://hdr.undp.org/sites/default/files/rhdr-2010-rblac.pdf
- 14 Pan American Health Organization Basic Indicators, 2015: Health situation in the Americas. Washington, D.C., USA, 2015. Available at: http://www.paho.org/uru/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=756:situacion-salud-americas-indicadores-basicos&Itemid=260
- 15 Banco Interamericano de Desarrollo (2010). Health of Indigenous Women: Interventions to reduce maternal death. (Salud de la Mujer Indígena: intervenciones para reducir la muerte materna.) Cordero L, Luna A, Vattuone M. Washington D.C., USA. Available at: https://publications.iadb.org/bitstream/handle/11319/246/Salud+de+la+mujer+ind%C3%ADgena.pdf?sequence=1
- 16 United Nations Children´s Fund. Health Equity Report 2015: Analysis of reproductive, maternal, newborn, child, and adolescent health inequities in Latin America and the Caribbean to inform policy making. Summary report. Panama City, Panama, 2016. Available at: http://www.unicef.org/lac/20160906 UNICEF APR HealthEquity Report_SUMMARY.pdf
- 17 Guttmacher Institute. Sedgh G, Singh S, and Hussain, R. Intended and unintended pregnancies worldwide in 2012 and recent trends. September 2014. Available at: https://www.guttmacher.org/news-release/2014/new-study-finds-40-pregnancies-worldwide-are-unintended
- 18 Sedgh, G, Bearak J, Singh S, et al. Abortion incidence between 1990 and 2014: Global, regional, and subregional levels and trends. The Lancet; 2016; Vol 388, No. 10041, 258-267. Available at: http://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(16)30380-4/abstract

- 19 Pan American Health Organization/World Health Organization. Zika cases and congenital syndrome associated with Zika with Zika virus reported by countries in the Americas 2015-2016: Cumulative cases. May 4, 2017. Available at: http://www2.paho.org/hq/index.php?
 option=com_docman&task=doc_view&Itemid=270&gid=39831&lang=en
- 20 Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean (ECLAC). Panorama Social de América Latina, 2015, (LC/G.2691-P), Santiago, 2016. Available at: http://repositorio.cepal.org/bitstream/handle/11362/39965/4/S1600175_es.pdf
- 21 United Nations Population Fund. Fecundidad y maternidad adolescente en el Cono Sur. Binstock G. UNFPA, 2016. Available at: http://lac.unfpa.org/sites/lac.unfpa.org/files/pub-pdf/Fecundidad%20y%20
 Maternidad%20Adolescente%20en%20el%20Cono%20
 Sur-Ultima%20version.pdf
- 22 World Health Organization. Health for the World's Adolescents: A second chance in the second decade. Available at: http://apps.who.int/adolescent/second-decade/
- 23 Latin American Federation of Obstetrics and Gynecology (FLASOG). Sexual and Reproductive Rights Committee. Factors related to pregnancy and maternity in under 15 year olds in Latin America and the Caribbean. (Factores relacionados con el embarazo y la maternidad en menores de 15 años en América Latina y El Caribe.)
 Lima, Peru, 2011. Available at: http://www.unal.edu.co/bioetica/documentos/2011/Maternidad.pdf
- 24 Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean (ECLAC). (2008) The demographic dividend: An opportunity to improve coverage and progression rates in secondary education. Panorama social de América Latina 2008. Available at: http://www.cepal.org/es/publicaciones/1229-panorama-social-de-america-latina-2008
- 25 World Health Organization. WHO statement on caesarean section rates (Declaración de la OMS sobre las tasas de cesáreas), OMS, Geneva, 2015. Available at: http://www.who.int/reproductivehealth/publications/maternal_perinatal_health/cs-statement/es/
- **26** Guttmacher, Abortion incidence between 1990 and 2014: Global, regional, and subregional levels and trends, May 11, 2016, abortion trends

- 27 World Health Organization (2011). Unsafe abortion. Global and regional estimates of the incidence of unsafe abortion and associated mortality in 2008. Sixth edition. Geneva. Available at: http://whqlibdoc.who.int/ publications/2011/9789241501118 eng.pdf
- **28** Guttmacher, Intended and Unintended Pregnancies Worldwide in 2012 and Recent Trends.
- 29 The Lancet (2015) Health-system reform and universal health coverage in Latin America. Rifat Atun et al. Volume 385, No. 9974, p 1230-1247, 28 March 2015. Online/Series Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61646-9
- 30 World Health Organization. Commission on the social determinants of health. Closing the gap in a generation: health equity through action on the social determinants of health. Final Report Commission on Social Determinants of Health (Subsanar las desigualdades en una generación: alcanzar la equidad sanitaria actuando sobre los determinantes sociales de la salud. Informe Final de la Comisión sobre Determinantes Sociales de la Salud.) Geneva: WHO, 2008. Available at: http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/44084/1/9789243563701_spa.pdf
- 31 World Health Organization. A Conceptual Framework for Action on the Social Determinants of Health. Commission on Social Determinants of Health, WHO, 2007. Available at: http://www.who.int/social-determinants/publications/9789241500852/en/
- 32 Pan American Health Organization/World Health Organization. Strategy for Universal Access to Health and Universal Health Coverage. CD53/5, Rev. 2. 2 October 2014. Washington, DC: PAHO, 2014. Available at: http://www.paho.org/uhexchange/index.php/en/uhexchange-documents/technical-information/26-strategy-for-universal-access-to-health-and-universal-health-coverage/file
- 33 Pan American Health Organization/ World Health Organization. Plan of Action on Health in All Policies. CD53/10, Rev. 1. September 2014. Washington, DC: PAHO, 2014. Available at: http://www.paho.org/hq/index.php? option=com_content&view=article&id=9774&Itemid= 41062&lang=es

- 34 Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean (ECLAC). ECLAC (2012) Good practices in monitoring and reporting of the Millennium Development Goals: National lessons from Latin America (Buenas prácticas en el monitoreo y reporte de los Objetivos de Desarrollo del Milenio: lecciones nacionales desde América Latina.) Pauline Stockins, Serie de Estudios Estadísticos, ECLAC 2012. Available at: http://www.cepal.org/es/publicaciones/4785-buenas-practicas-en-el-monitoreo-y-reporte-de-los-objetivos-de-desarrollo-del
- **35** World Bank. World Development Indicators. Available at: http://databank.worldbank.org/
- 36 Etienne E. Equity in health systems. (Equidad en los sistemas de salud.) Rev Panam Salud Publica 2013; 33(2): 81-82. Available at: <a href="http://www.paho.org/journal/index.php?option=com_docman&view=download&category_slug=pdfs-february-2013&alias=551-equidad-en-lossistemas-de-salud<emid=847&lang=en">http://www.paho.org/journal/index.php?option=com_docman&view=download&category_slug=pdfs-february-2013&alias=551-equidad-en-lossistemas-de-salud<emid=847&lang=en
- 37 Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean (ECLAC). ECLAC (2012) Good practices in monitoring and reporting of the Millennium Development Goals: National lessons from Latin America (Buenas prácticas en el monitoreo y reporte de los Objetivos de Desarrollo del Milenio: lecciones nacionales desde América Latina.) Pauline Stockins, Serie de Estudios Estadísticos, ECLAC 2012. Available at: http://www.cepal.org/es/publicaciones/4785-buenas-practicas-en-el-monitoreo-y-reporte-de-los-objetivos-de-desarrollo-del
- 38 Regional Task Force for the Reduction of Maternal Mortality. Articulating intersectoral agreements to reduce maternal mortality in Latin America and the Caribbean: lessons learned in implementing the Interagency Strategic Consensus Document. (Articulando acuerdos intersectoriales para la reducción de la mortalidad materna en América Latina y el Caribe: lecciones aprendidas en la aplicación del Documento de Consenso Estratégico Interagencial.) GTR, 2010.
- **39** Regional Task for the Reduction of Maternal Mortality. Guidelines for Maternal Death Surveillance and Response (MDSR): Region of the Americas. GTR, 2015.
- 40 World Health Organization. Maternal death surveillance and response: technical guidance. Information for action to prevent maternal death. World Health Organization, Geneva, 2013. Available at: http://www.who.int/ maternal child adolescent/documents/maternal death surveillance/en/

- 41 UNFPA. State of the world midwives 2014 (El estado de las parteras en el mundo 2014). UNFPA. Available at: http://www.unfpa.org/sites/default/files/pub-pdf/SoWMy2014_complete-Spanish.pdf
- **42** Thaddeus, S., Maine, D. (1994) Too Far to walk: Maternal mortality in context. Sm. Sci. Med. Vol. 38. No. 8, pp. 1091-1110, 1994.
- **43** World Health Organization. The World Health Report 2005. Make every mother and child count. WHO Geneva, 2005. Available at: http://www.who.int/whr/2005/en/
- 44 Karolinski A, Mazzoni A, Belizán JM, Althabe F, Bergel E, Buekens P. Lost opportunities for effective management of obstetric conditions to reduce maternal mortality and severe maternal morbidity in Argentina and Uruguay. International Journal of Gynecology and Obstetrics, Vol. 110, Issue 2, p175-180.
- **45** World Health Organization. Recommendations for the prevention and treatment of postpartum haemorrhage. WHO Geneva, 2012. Available at: http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/75411/1/9789241548502 eng.pdf?ua=1
- 46 Regional Task Force for the Reduction of Maternal Mortality. Reduction of maternal mortality and morbidity. Interagency Strategic Consensus for Latin America and the Caribbean. Washington D.C., PAHO, 2003.
- 47 CLAP/SMR (2012). Fescina R, De Mucio B, Ortiz E, Jarquín D. Guidelines for the medical attention of major obstetric emergencies. (Guías para la atención de las principales emergencias obstétricas.) Montevideo: CLAP/SMR; 2012. Scientific Publication (Publicación Científica); 1594.
- 48 Universidad de Chile (2014) Diario UChile. Obstetric Violence: the invisible wound of childbirth (Violencia Obstétrica: la herida invisible del parto.) Internet. October 6, 2014. See: http://radio.uchile.cl/2014/10/06/violencia-obstetrica-la-herida-invisible-del-parto/
- 49 United Nations. Human Rights Council. Technical guidance on the application of a human rights-based approach to the implementation of policies and programmes to reduce preventable maternal morbidity and mortality. (Orientaciones técnicas sobre la aplicación de un enfoque basado en los derechos humanos a la ejecución de las políticas y los programas destinados a reducir la mortalidad y morbilidad prevenibles asociadas a la maternidad.) Report from the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights. (Informe de la Oficina del Alto Comisionado de las Naciones Unidas para los Derechos Humanos.) A/HRC/21/22. Available at: http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/HRBodies/HRCouncil/RegularSession/Session21/A-HRC-21-22_sp.pdf

- 50 World Health Organization. Reproductive health indicators: guidelines for their generation, interpretation and analysis for global monitoring. WHO, Geneva: 2006. Available at: http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/43185/1/924156315X eng.pdf
- 51 World Health Organization. Every Woman, Every child: from commitments to action. First report of the independent expert review group (iERG) on information and accountability for women's and children's health. WHO, Geneva: 2012. Available at: http://www.who.int/woman_child_accountability/ierg/reports/2012/IERG_report_low_resolution.pdf
- 52 United States Agency for International Development.
 Bowser D, and Hill K. Exploring Evidence for Disrespect
 and Abuse in Facility-based Childbirth: Report of a
 Landscape Analysis. USAID-TRAction Project, University
 Research Corporation, LLC, and Harvard School of Public
 Health. Available at: http://www.tractionproject.org/sites/default/files/Respectful_Care_at_Birth_9-20-101_Final.pdf
- 53 World Health Organization. Strategies toward ending preventable maternal mortality (EPMM). WHO, Geneva: 2015. Available at: http://who.int/reproductivehealth/topics/maternal_perinatal/epmm/en/

OTHER REFERENCES CONSULTED

Instituto Nacional de Estadística (INE). Post-Census Survey on Maternal Mortality: Final results for 2000 (Encuesta Post Censal de Mortalidad Materna: Resultados Finales para el año 2000.) La Paz, Bolivia, 2003. Available at: http://www.mariestopes.org.bo/webassets/documentos/encuesta_postcensal_2000.pdf

Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean (ECLAC). Teenage motherhood in Latin America and the Caribbean. Trends, issues and challenges. (Maternidad adolescente en América Latina y el Caribe. Tendencias, problemas y desafíos.) Challenges (Boletín Desafíos) No. 4, January 2007. Available at: http://repositorio.cepal.org/bitstream/handle/11362/35990/1/desafios-4-esp-Final-es.pdf

Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean (ECLAC). Fertility in Latin America: rapid and heterogeneous decline with profound demographic and social changes (La fecundidad en América Latina: Un descenso acelerado y heterogéneo con profundas transformaciones demográficas y sociales) Available at: http://www.cepal.org/publicaciones/xml/8/36498/lafecundidadodo5.pdf

Inter-American Commission on Human Rights. Access to maternal health services from a human rights perspective. (Acceso a servicios de salud materna desde una perspectiva de derechos humanos.) IACHR, OAS, June 2010. Available at: http://cidh.org/women/saludmaterna10sp/saludmaterna indice.htm

Windau-Melmer T. A Guide for Advocating for Respectful Maternity Care. Washington, DC: Futures Group. Futures Group, Health Policy Project, 2013. Available at: http://whiteribbonalliance.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/09/RMC-Guide_FINAL.pdf

International Initiative on Maternal Mortality and Human Rights (IIMMHR). No more needless deaths: a call to action on human rights and maternal mortality. (No más muertes innecesarias: un llamado a la acción en materia de derechos humanos y mortalidad materna.) New York, USA 2009. Available at: http://www.redxlasalud.org/index.php/mod.documentos/mem.descargar/fichero.DOC-324%232E%23pdf

Karolinski A, Mercer R, Micone P, Ocampo C, Salgado P, Szulik D, et al. Model to fully address maternal mortality and severe maternal morbidity. (Modelo para abordar integralmente la mortalidad materna y la morbilidad materna grave.) Rev Panam Salud Pública. 2015;37(4/5):351-9.

United Nations, UN Women. Report on the 57th session. Commission on the Status of Women. The elimination and prevention of all forms of violence against women and girls. Agreed conclusions. (Informe sobre el 57° período de sesiones. Comisión de la Condición Jurídica y Social de la Mujer La eliminación y prevención de todas las formas de violencia contra la mujer y la niña. Conclusiones convenidas.) UN Women, March 2013. Available at: http://www2.unwomen.org/~/media/headquarters/attachments/sections/csw/57/csw57-agreedconclusions-a4-es.pdf?v=1&d=20141013T121948

World Health Organization. Safe abortion: technical and policy guidance for health systems, Second Edition (Aborto sin riesgos: guía técnica y de política para sistemas de salud, Segunda edición.) WHO, Geneva: 2012. Available at: http://www.who.int/reproductivehealth/publications/unsafe_abortion/9789241548434/es/

World Health Organization (2014). The prevention and elimination of disrespect and abuse during facility-based childbirth (Prevención y erradicación de la falta de respeto y el maltrato durante la atención del parto en centros de salud.) WHO statement (Declaración de la OMS.) WHO, Geneva: 2014. Available at: http://www.who.int/reproductive-health/topics/maternal_perinatal/statement-childbirth/es/

Lager A, Horton R, Chalamilla G. A manifesto for maternal health post-2015. The Lancet 2013 Feb 23; Vol 381 (9867): 601-602. Available at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23439088

The Lancet, Every Newborn Series, May 2014. Available at: http://www.thelancet.com/series/everynewborn

United Nations Human Rights Council (2009). Promotion and protection of all human rights, civil, political, economic, social and cultural rights, including the right to development/ Preventable maternal mortality and morbidity and human rights. A/HRC/11/L.16/Rev.1. Geneva. 16 June 2009.

Yamin, AE (2010), Toward transformative accountability: applying a human rights approach to meet the obligations related to maternal health. (Hacia una rendición de cuentas transformadora: aplicando un enfoque de derechos humanos para satisfacer las obligaciones en relación a la salud materna.) Revista Sur, v.7, June 2010, p 99-127.

Yamin AE (2013), From Ideals to Tools: Applying Human Rights to Maternal Health. PLoS Med 10(11):e1001546. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1001546.



